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March 8, 2004

- William Cascy
Deputy Superintendent
Information Technology Division
- Boston Police Department
1 Schroeder Plaza
Boston, Massachusctts 02120

- - Reference: 'chu'cst for Lateat Print Consultation Services

~ Superintendent Casey,

On January 73, 2004 you coatacted our office to inquire as to the ability and availability
~of "Ron Sthith & ASsociates, Ioc” 10 assist the Boston PolicZ Dicpiirtdent in @ thorough -
-~ -~ -and-eomplete-tochnical-and admigistrative assessment of the Latent Print Unit. This _ . _ e ez
Tequest resulted, in part, from the discovery of an crroneous ideatification of a Jatent
* fingerprint in 1997 on a case involving a Bostoa Policc officer who reccived noa-fatal

gua shot wounds during a physical confrontation whilc on duty.

Our conversation coatioued on January 26, 2004, and at that fime you requested that |
travel o Boston to further discuss how we might assist your departmeat s fully assessing
the corrent status of the Latent Print Unit. This would involve the identification of the
swengths as well as any technical and/or administrative proccdural weaknesses aod the
preliminary development of a proposal 1o address any weaknesscs identified.
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Subsequent to that request, I arrived at the headquarters of Bestoa Police Department on
Monday moming, February 9, 2004. The majority of that day was spent meeting with the
agency adimunistrative command staff as well as the linc supervisory staff of the Latcnt
Print Unit. These meetings were required to develop a mutuvally agrezd upon action plan
for the ymitial assessment of the Latent Pnnt Unit

This trip was not designed 1o evaluate the actval case involving the erroncous
identification, hereafter referred to as the “Gallagher” case. The determigatioa that an
error in the original identification had indeed occurred had already been made by the
Boston Police Department and coafirmed by LA I Cerufied Lateat Print Examiners from
at least two outside governmeatal agencies. My primary respoasibility was to examine
the operation of the Latest Print Uit to determine, if possible, how an error of this

" “magnitude ¢ould have Beed fnade; vérified internally by 3 second examiner in the uait

— o rrandtestifiedtota acourtoflaw.— . -

To answer these questions would requirc access to employee Uaining records, case files.
_ procedure manuals and all other pertineat documentation regarding past and present
operating gmdehnes of the Lateat Prist Unit.” I'must say at this point-that You, other
mewbers of the command staff and the line supervisors of the Lateat Print Unit were
exceptionally open with information and very helpful in this phase of the process and
your cooperation was very much appreciated.

Ncar the close of the first day, February 9™ , your staff offered me access to the actuzl

““Gallagher” Latent Piint Unjt €38 Tilé along 'with the items of evideoce which bad beert
retumed from the District Atomey’s Office as part of the initial postconviction casc
review. I conducted an initial examination of photographs of the latent fingerpriat in
queston, along with the identification charts which Officer Deants LeBlanc used to
illusuate the identification as part of his sworm testimony in the trial which occurred in
1998. .

I first dcxzrmmod that lhc 1deuuﬁc:mon xllm‘u'aladm the charted enlaroexncnts was
indecd erroucous. (Of this fact, there s absolutely no doubt) My examination of the
charts also cansed me great concern due to the maanerin which the latent fingerprint
from the glass mug was illustrated in the eatargements. The clear glass mug had been

- = —processed with cyanoacrylate ester fuming, which is a perfectly acceptable and

recommended method for processing glass itcms. This process results in the
development of friction ridge detail of the latent fingerprint in a white color on the
surface. Since the friction ridge detad of a known inked fingerprint, such. as that found
on the defendant’s fingerprint card, is reproduced in a black color, it is common practice
.10 reverse the color of the white latent fingerprint photographically, prior to the
enlargements being made. This is doac so that the friction ridge details of the Jatent
fingerprint will be the same color in the enlargements as the friction ridge details of the
known inked fingerprint and the jury members can see the conelation of matching
charactenstics when they are pointed out by the expert witoess. This in no way alters the
uniqueness of the friction ridge information, but sunply makes it much casier 10 see and
corpprehend and is a very common practice in the latent fingerprint community. Upon
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inquiry of the current and past supervisory staff of the Latcnt Print Uait, the photographic
reversal of color, prior to making enlargements, is commonly practiced in the Boston
Police Deparunent as well. To not reverse the color of the latcat fingerprint prior to
makKing the enlargements scems 10 defeat the primary purpose of preparing charts for the

. Jury to sec and tus was indeed worthy of further review. Along with this observation, T
noticed that on the back of the “identification” chasts there were a sct of hand written step
by step instructions on how to cxplain the tea matching “points of identification”
betwezn the Jateat fingerprint developed oa the glass mug and the left thumb print of
"Stephan Cowans™. This may not be unusual for this officer to do but would be

- considered unusual in the geacral latent fingerprint community because normally when
identification charts arc cxplained 10 a jury the witness is looking at the front of the charts
and sumply directs the atteation of the jury to the points of idenufication and counts
across thc mtcrvcmng ndges bétween each subscqueat yomc. Th:s does-otrequirs. = . .-
as thcy tesufy. Upon inquiry of the cuntnt “and past supemsory Staffof thEIztent Print”
Umt, this also scemed odd to them and they couldn’t recal) another case of Officcr -~
LeBlanc’s where they observed this practice. The overall uniqueness of this practice car
‘only be detcrmined after othiér identification charts from other cases-arc requested-from
the Superior Court or the District Attorney’s Officc and’ compared with'the “Stcphan
Cowans™ latent fingerprint identification chart. .

Although this level of rescarch should cerusnly be conducted and is highly
recommended, there is one other sct of identification charts which are part of the official
record of the, “Gallagher™ case which do lend themselves to-art ummediate comparison of
chaztmg methods. These were also initially cxamined on that first afternoon. February
9%, 2004, along with the case file. .

There was a sccond lateat fingerprint developed on the glass mug. This was
_subsequendy identificd by Officer Dennis LeBlanc as the Jeft ring fingerprint of “Boanic

Lacy”, a Jady whose home, was broken into by the perpetrator as he fled from the sceae of °

e shooting of Officer Gallagher. According to the information provxded, the glass | mug
belonged 10 “Boanie Lacy” and was rcported to have beca handled by the perpetrator
during the Ume he held ber captive in her home. An examination of the photograph of
this latent fingerprint and the known ﬁngcrpmtsowommlacy”mcalc&lhammndﬂd

was a correct identficaton. -

B e i R e T ———

This sccond latent fingerprint, which was also devcloped with cyanoacrylate ester .
fuming, appeared as a latent fingerprint with white colored ridges. When this “white
ndge” latent fingerprint was photographed as part of the identification chart making
process, Officcr LeBlanc reversed the color of the ridges prior to making the
cnlargements. The result of this process being that the ndges of the lateat fingerpeint on
this charted enlargement appear black, just as the ridges of the known inked fingerprint of
“Bonnie Lacy™. Of course, this makes the cocsponding fingerprint ridge detail between

the latent fingerprint and the known isked fingerprint much easier for the jury to scc and
compschend duning the testimony of the expert witness. This is an example of how the

. process normally proceeds whea making charted enlargements of Jatent prints developed
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with cyanoacrylarte ester fuming. This color reversa] Process was not cmﬁloycd inthe ——
making of the identification chart illustrating the identification of the left thumb print of
“Stephan Cowans™. :

The preliminary review of the “Gallagher” case file required the remainder of the first
day. I was provided a copy of the official transcript of the sworn testimony of Officer
Dennis LeBlanc, Detective Willjam Husscy and Officer Rosemary McLaughlin, which
they provided during the wial of the defendaat, “Stephan Cowans”™. 1 studied my notes
that night, compared them with the vanscripts from the trial and prepared for wmeetings
with the command staff the dext day 1o discuss my areas of concern with the lateat priat
‘eXaminatons and testimony in the case. Although this was not why T was requested to
come 1o Boston, I felt that my preliminary observations justificd the re-direction of my
cfforts at that time. Of course, something in the analytical process went desperately
wrong in this case and there were reasons for that error in the original examination, SRR
venfication and subsequent testimonies. This review of the casc file, evidence and
transcript, lead me to at Jeast consider the following options regarding the latent print

. .. Examinations and testimony concerning the "Gallagher™ case. At this point these were
only possibilitics but the evidence swrongly supported that these options be considered
and further investigated. They were as follows:

1 The initial examiner, Officer Dennis LeBlanc, was not competeat to properly
examine a latent fingerprint of this level of difficulty and the reviewing examincr,
OfficcrRosemary McLaughlin was not competent enough to properly serve ia
the capacity of “verifier™ on this casc. ” T

2. The nitial examiner, Officer Dennis LeBlane was not‘cbrnpctcnt_ to propcrl); -
examine a latent flagerprint of this level of difficulty and the reviewer, Officer
Rosemary McLaughlin, did not take the time to evaluate the latent fin gerprint o 7

‘—=  ..eme . Tidcntification” adequately.

3. The nitial cxaminer, Officer Dennis LeBlanc, allowed possible ostside cse 7
information, real or imagined pressure andfor vaknown influences to affect his
Judgmeat, resulting in the ermoneous identification and the error was got

——o- *‘”".‘-‘—""'discuvexed'b‘y“OfﬁcchoscmzryMcmghﬁu because of lack of competency or

e v .,.,-.whchnfemmc.xcriﬂcaﬁmm,,.mn_:.._?...n_.___.,_,-.,__.__ P

4. - Because of the unusual method of preparing the “Stephian Cowans™ court chart of
the latent fingerprint. along with selected-swom statcments which were made
during the testimony of Officer Deanis LeBlanc, two (2) other options must be
considcred: '

A. Option #1, Option #2 or Opuon #3 existed and Officer Deanis LeBlanc
used a very poor method of illustrating the identification of the left thumb
pant of “Stephan Cowans™, cven though he used the proper mcthod of
illustrating the identification of the climination fingerprint of “Boanie
Lacy”.
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B.  Officer Dennis LeBlanc made the crroncous ideatification because of
Option #1, Option #Z or Option #3. but discovered his mistake prIor to, or
duning, the making of the identfication charts and decided to utilize this
method of charting to kecp his mistake from being discovercd dunng
bis tcstimony.

S. Tt must be clearly understood that there may be another option which simply can't
be determined from the cvidence and the transcripts, but since the erroneous
identification did in fact occur, then this additional optiog, by default, would be
required to include some combination of competency issucs or possible
wrongdoing. '

7 T Onthe'second day; February 107, Txontinoed Tay review-of the case file and determined _
that I necded to report my initial findings to the Latent Print Unit line staff Supervisors,
and the agency command administrative staff. I met with Sergeant Silva, Sergeant Foilb,

and Lt. Hutchinson and asked several procedural guestions of them that had devcloped

during my revicw of notes and transcripts. I explained 1o them my cogeerns andthey "

agreed that at that point my conccras necded to be passed up the chain of command
within the department. During the remainder of the moming and early afternoon, I madc
similar presentations 0 you (Deputy Superintcndent Casey), Deputy Superintendent
James Driscoll, Superiniendent John Gallagher, and Commissioner James Hussey.

As apart of the presentation 1o the command staff members, J saade the following ~ ~

recommendations prior 0. my departure that afternoon:

I. Assiga ooe of the Latent Print Unit Sergeaats to the spedial task of locating
-case files-of Officer Dennis LeBlanc’s cuses from 1995 throu gh 1999 to
determipe if Officer LeBlanc ordinarily used “reversed color” or “same color”
- - enlargements when making charts during that time pertiod,-when the latent
print had been developed with the cyanoacrylate éster fuming technique.

2 Coutinue with their extensive teview of all ideatifications reported by Officer
Denms LeBlanc and Officer Rosemary McLaughlin to insure that no other
* - ~---ermopeous identifications cxist.- - -

3. Have all cases from that the time period of 1995 through 1999 re-cxamined by
' LAY Cextified Latent Print Examincrs specifically for quality assurancé
purposes and to determine if parterns of competency, or Jack thereof,

appeared.

4. Locaic Jatcat print identification charts within the court system that Officer
Deanis.LeBlanc had prepared. and cxamine them to determine if they had
"scripied” instructions og the back. and aon-reversed color photographs of the
lateat priat, such as werc found on the “Stephan Cowans™ chart.
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After my prescntation to the command staff and prior to my departure, 1 was informed by
Scrgeant Robert Foilb. that as part of his assigned duties to organize the “Gallagher”
latent pant case file he had observed similarities betweea the latent fingerpriut from the

- glass mug, which had erroncously been ideatified as “Stcphan Cowans™ left thumb priat,
and the left thumb print of “Bryant McEwen” whose elimination prints were a part of the
onbmal submissions to the Latent Print Unit He continucd his examination and

" dctermioed that the latent fingerprint did indeed match the left thumb prnt of “Bryant
McEwen™. 1 compared the enlarged reverse color photograph of the latcat fingerprint
from the glass mug that Sergeant Foilb had available, with the enlarged photograph of the
known inked left thumb print of “Bryant McEwen” and agreed with the identification.

Upon completion of my presevtatioa, I retimed 1o MISSISSIppE will the fntesition of —————— -~ — -
beginning 10"work ¢ the original project; which was-to prepare-a proposal for the. -Boston_ ‘

Police Department for the continued 2ssessmeat of their Latent Print Unit and T
development of a plan of action to-address the technical and administrative problems they

_. are currently experiencing. Superintendent Gallagher also requested that Idevelopan -

‘additional, _proposal specifically related to reducing the Backlog of ua-Worked cases "~ — ==~ —= -
existing within the Lateat Priot Unit by utilizing the staff experts of Ron Smith &

Associates, Incorporated.

On the morning of February 11", 2004 I'was again contacted by your office and

_fequested to return to Boston to review the cases from 1995 to 1999 to determine, if

possible; if the erroaeous identification, verification, and subsequent testmony. was ag: wr === s s - -
issue of competency, careless ‘error, some combination of these issues, or something cI\c ’

entrely. Tadvised you that this case file research would be conducted with ao pre-

coaccived idcas as 1o what might be found and that it wovld require the €fforts of at lcast

three additional experts from the RS & A, Inc. stafT. We agreed during that conversation

. that my team would be mdy 10 begin work in Boston on Monday morning, the 16™ of

Feb‘mry 2004 Seaammr e lmmie s immmer e el

During the next two days I conducted @1 inquiry of our staff members across the United

States and selected three 1A L Certificd Latent Print Examiners who 2all possessed

credentials commensuraie witlr henature-of this project Theyalt- nchuding mryscif—

have over twenty-five years in the feld of forensic idengfication_ute certified have e e
management or supcrvisory backgrouad and have all served, or continue 10 serve on the T
Lateat Print Certification Board of the International Association for Idenuf' cation. The

‘members of the case review team were:

Bush, James E. (Jamie) — Mississippi Crime Laboratory — Meridian, Mississippi
Mullins, Hilbern J. (Jay) — Palm Beach County S. O. - West Palm Beach, Florida
Richardson, Charles (Chuck) — D.EA. (Retired) — Hughesville, Maryland
Smith, Edgar R. (Ron) — Roa Smith & Associates, Inc. - Mcridian, Mississippi
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On Monday morming. February 16™, 2004 the four above members met with you and
reccived an update as to the developments since I left the previous week. We discussed
the scope of the project which was to include the following phases:

. Phase I: Thorough inventory of the latent print cvidence and the Latent Print Unit
case file on the “Gallagher” case, which had beco placed in the custody of
Superintendent Joha Gallaghicr. (To determioe if the actual Jatent poat

‘evidence returned from the District Attomey’s Office was inclusive of all
the cvidence described in the transcripts of Officer Dennis LeBlanc and
Officer Rosemary McLaughlin. Also to determine if the contents of the
casc filc included the supporting technical data and/or photographs of the
evidence which was used to prepare the official Jatent print reports and
provide details necessary for the testimony fovnd in the official” - - -~

s transcripts.)

rv—— e

Phase I: Technical revicw of the comparisons which were conducted in the
“Gallagher™ case as part of the original lareat print examinations

in the twa official latent print reports from Officer LeBlanc dated 6-24-97
and 6-20-98 but will also include the comparisons of the other elimination
inked fingerprints which could bave béen compared bascd on the

dates these known fingerprints were taken in rclation to the dates of the
reports issued by Officer Deanis LeBlanc.) g

Phase IIL: ~Review of any latent print identification charts that were believed to have.
been made by Officer Denais LeBlanc oa other cases. {To determine, if
possible, his usual apd customary method of preparing identification
charts for court testimouics, particularly in cascs involving Jatent prints.

. -~ .. .Geyeloped with the cyanoacrylate ester faming process.) ‘

Technical and Administrative review of all the cascs which vecee
cxamiged by Officcr Dennis LeBlanc for a pesiod of five years from 1995
thmug_h 1999. (To determine, if possible, the technical competeacy level

and adwinisrative practices displayed by Officer Denwis LeBlanc before

st e e« . and aftex be examined the Jatent print evideacs in e *Gallagher” case.) .

Phase V: Administrative review (not Technical) of a sampling of cascs examined by
Officer Rosemary McLaughlio between 1995 and 1999 to determine her
lcvel of consistency in analytical documentation. (This review was limited
10 an administrative revicw due 10 the projected time coustraints apd the
fact that the technical review of ber reported identifications was already
being conduced by supervisory members of the Boston Police
Department )

Phase VI Detailed revicw of official vanscripts of the tesumony of Officer Deanis
Leblane and Officer Rosemary McLaughlin in the tal of “Stephan

- reported by Officer Dennis LéBlagc. (These comparisons were teflected -
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Cowans™. (To determine consistency with evidence in the case file and
assist in the developroent of a time line for the Lateat Print Unit related
events duning the case examination.)

Phase VII:  Uulizing all documented items ar our disposal, prepare a time line for the
Latent Prnt Unit related activities related to the “Gallagher” casc.

Phase VII:  Document the work and findings of the RS & A, Inc. review team in such
a manner that they could be used to prepare a formal report.

Phase IX: Prcpare a “Sydopsis of Co,nclusiom; Reached™

“Afer this xmual plannmv mecuné, the team membcrs of RS &7\, Io<. wete provided a
time we were provided the official Galhghcr" latent p;l—n-l case file a}ong with tht_:
cvidence which had been retumned to the Boston Police Department as part of the recent
post-convxcnon review request from the. Dlstnct A.ttorney s Oi‘ﬁcc.

ey - —_—

Phase I The inventory was initiated, with au four members of the review 1cam
copducting a prcliminary visual examination of the jicms to familiarize themselves with
the case. At this point the case was assigned the RS & A, Inc. case identifier “BPD-01”
which i3 a unique case oumber which will be uscd in any fure conespondence between
Ron Smith and Associates, Inc. and your agency. (The majority of these items were
bricfly described in 2a internal Boston Palice Départioent Memoranduih dated Febraary
.. -11,2004 from Licsienant Detective Rachael Hutchinsoa, Identification Unit to
Supenntendent John Gallagher, Chicf of the Bureau of Invesigative Services.) The items
were contained in a single cardboard box used for case storage and transport purposcs.

- -The itcms contained in the outer cardboard bux were assigned sequeatial RS & A, Inc.

Exbibit numbers and labcled aocordmgly during the jnventory process. The i tems

— aacluded the following: - . - . .

Extitbit #1:  One (1) wped scaled brown cardboard box containing one (1) clear plastic
Ziploc type plastic bag containing oue (1) brokea clear glass mug. (l'hc

gla.ss mug appeared to have previously been processed for latent prints -
. using the cyanoacrylate ester fuming method asd the visible ridge « details
were in a white color.)

Exbbit #2:  Ope (1) manila envelope containing one 1) latent fingcrprint
identification court cbart. This chart includes a photographic enldrgement
of one (1) of the two (2) latent fingerprints developed on the glass mug in
Exlubit #1 mounted next to 2 photograpbic enlargement of an inked
fingerprint. The photographic cnlargement of the latent fingerprint
illustrated the lateat fiagerprint ridge details in the onginal white color
associated with the cyanoacrylate ester fuming process. Tbe photographic
enjargement of the known inked fingerprint illustrated the ridge detail of
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the knows inked fingerprint in the originai black coior associated with the
standard fingerprinting process. The back of the chart had a court exhibit
label indicaung that it was assigned the court exhibit #89 on 6/23/98.
(This cotacidcs with the date of tcstimony of Officer Dennis LeBlanc and
according to the official court transcripy, is the chart which depicted the
identification of the left thurmb of “Stephan Cowans™) This chart has a
handwritten “point by point” description of how to explain the position of
the identifying characteristics taped to the buck side of the chart.

Exhibit #3:  One (1) manila envelope contining one (1) lateat fingerprint
~ identilication court chart. This chart includes a photographic calarpement
of oae (1) of the two (2) lateat fingerprints developed on the glass mug in
Exbibit #1 ‘motinted next to'a photographic erdargement-of an-inked -~~~ < omo—reii o
. fingerprint. The photographic enlargement of she latent fingerpnt | -
illustrated the latent Singerprint Gdge details in a black color, which =~ - -
- required that the original photograph of the white ridge lateat fingerprint
be color reversed prior 1o the court chart enfargerments being prepared.
" This'is the most common 24d recommended method for displayingan- -+ ~e—me - e
identification involving a latent fingerprint which was decveloped with the
cyanoacrylate estec fuming process. The back of the chart had a court
exhibit label indicating that it was assigned the court exhibit #90 on
6/24/98. (This coincidcs with the date of testimony of Officer Dennis
' * LeBlanc and according to the official transcript, is the chare which - _
—- wrmem . o depicied the jdentification:of the ket ring finger of “Bonnic Lacy”.) “This
. chart has no handwritten “point by point™ description on the back.

Exhibit #4:  One (1) manila eavelope containing iwo (2) photographs of the glass mug
in Exhibit #1 and three (3) photocopies of the photograph.
. Exhibit #5: . Onc.(1).manila cavclopc containing the elimination fingerprints of the _
Boston Policc Deparuneat employecs who had Jegitimate access to the
Crime sccnc areas. —-
Exhibit %_ﬂmﬂtmwmngvﬁ&zncbpad’—' reproduction-of-the -
-+ - —-XpOWa inked fingcrprints of “Marthew Vickers”. “Scratchpad? is a form
-of software utilized by the Boston Police Department to print a fingerprin
card from clectronically stored images in the Identification Unit. (No
further mention of “Matthew Vickers™ was found in the Latent Print Unit
case file)

Exhibit #7: One (1) manila eavelope containing separate hcﬁt scaled plastic sleeves
contuining elimination inked Gngerpants of:

A. "Bonnic Lacy”. Onc (1) sct of known inked fingerprints, dated 6-3-97
These elimination fingerprints werc taken by “Detective John
Callahan”. (These known inked fingerprints were eventually used-

—r . YR e e - eomCTACT . o, — =

[ S
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to make the enlargement for the latent lingerprint identification
chart contsined in Exhibit #3. See Exhibit #3-B)

B. “Jackie McEwea™. Oge (1) sct of known inked fingerprints, dated
6/1/98.

C. I ackie McEwen™. Two (2) sets of known inked fingcrprints, dated
6/3/93. :

D. "Carl B. Lacy”. Two (2) sets of known inked fingerprints, dated
6/2/97.

'_' T T ES™Touy Bétirendt™. Onc (1) set of known inked fingerprints, dated
520

ST

Exhibit #8:  One (1) manila envelope containing:

T Tt T AU Four (3) copies of ihé Jdentification Unit Latent PﬁdiRepon-fbr’CC#' '

70275294, dated 06-24-97, signed *“Denais E. LeBlanc™. This report
included the statemnent “On June 13, 1997, 1 was given a name of a
possible suspect. Upon my comparison of the fateat priots to the
suspects prints, ] was to conclude that one of the Jatents was identical
to the inked impression of one; Stephan Cowans, B/M, BR#121053-93

B. Two (2) copics of the Identification Unit Lstent Print Report for CC#
970-275-294, dated 06-20-98, signed “Denais E. LcBlanc™. This
report iocluded the statement “Lecspectfully report that on June 17,
1998, as a sesult of receiving 2 new set of inked impressioa from

e e e e e .BonnicLacy,,l.;wns;able_m.idcatiﬁgd.thc_sc_condprim found ov the_

glass mug as belonging to her number nine (9) finger.™ (This was the
actual spelling found in the repor) :

T s e s C. One (1) subpocna number 97-11231, issued 6-10-98, for Police Officer

s~ == — et — e . Dennis LeBlanc 1 appear on Monday, June 22, 1998 in Superior
Court for the County of Suffolk in the casc of “Commounwcalth VS:
Stephan Cowen™,

D. Four (4) legal size sheets of white p:xper containing copy machinc
reproductions of the latent fingerpeint identification chart contained jn
Exhibit #2. '

E. Cae (1) AFIS printout dated 06/23/98 of “Finger No. 06, Key No. 009-
016-031. (This appears to be a printour of the left thumb print of
“Stephan Cowans” op filc with the Massachusetts State Police AFIS
system that was made by Officer Deanis LeBlanc upon the request of

10
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the prosecutor’s office one day before the iestimooy of Officer
LeBianc. Although this item was never introduced as evidence in the

- nal, it was discussed on Page 3-246 of the direct testmony of Officer
Dennis LeBlanc and again on Page 5-251 of the cross examination
testimony of Officer LeBlanc.)

Exhibit#9:  Onc (1) manila file folder labeled “970-275-294" coptuining the latent
print repont of “Officer Sharon Wong, dated 6-2-97, in which she reported
the negative resulss of cxamining Officer Gallagher’s handgun for latent
prints.

.., Exhibit #10:  Oune (1) manila envclope containing:

Tt A One (1) copy of the Identification Upig Laicot et Report for CCE
970-275-294, dated 06-20-98, signed “Dennis E. LeBlanc™. (Same as
Exhibit # 8-B) .

B. ‘One (1) phorocopy 6f 3 Toll size iiked fifgerptint Cadbedmag olled -0 o
and plain impression inked fingerprints apd the name “Bonnie Lacy™.
(This is a copy machine reproduction of the original inked fingerprint
card which is coptained in Exhibit #21.)

C. Three (3) leuer size sheets of white paper bearing phdtocdpy ]
reproductions of kaown fingérprints marked “Bonnie Lacy™ atthetop - ~—~--
" of the page. : ' :

Exhibit #11: One (1) white paper Boston Police Department envelope marked “Blue
" Imark on tracing done by Sgt. Foilb, 2/10/04, 9:10 PM in presence of Lt.
Hutchinson”™ cootaining:

A. One (1) AFIS wacing paper bearing a fidge tracing of the Iment
fingerprint depicted in the photograph in Exhibit #11-B. . -

B. Oge (1) Polaroid photograph of 2 latent-fingerprint depicted eith o v oo
ridge details i black cofor, (This photograph'is a corrected color -

version of the latent fingerprint which had been emroncousiy idegtified. =
as the Jeft thumb print of “Stephag Cowans”. Upoa discussion with
Sergeant Foilb, it was determined that this new reverse color
photograph and arrachcd AFIS tracing were made by Officer Dennjs
LcBlanc after the aroncous identification was discovered in January

of 2004. Although Ex. #11-A and Exbibit £11-B were pot part of the
original casc cxamination in 1997 and 1998, they arc important in that
they represeat the manner in which the original AFIS scarch should
have been conducted. The court rapscript reflects, on Page 3-241, that
Officer LeBlanc agreed under cross examination that he conducied an
AFIS search of the latent fingerprint (the ope which was later

il
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idcatified as Stephan Cowans) on May 31%, 1597 but doesn’t mention
as to how he deals with the white colored ridges prior to wacing the
ridge formations. Officer LeBlanc testified woder re-direct
exarminatiog that bie conducted an AFIS search of both of the Iatent

{ingerpants from the glass mug, This is reflected on Page 3-241 of
the trial transcript. There were no reverse “corrected” color
photographs or AFIS ridge wacings from cither of those AFIS
searches present io the Latent Print Unit casc file. There is no
physical evidence to prove or disprove if, or how, these original ‘\FlS
searches were conducted -

Exhibiut #12: One (1) manila envelope containing:

A. Three (3) photographs and four (4) copy machine calarged.
reproductions of the latent fingerprint identified as “Stcphan
Cowans” developed on the glass mug.

B. Oue (1) photocopy enlargement of the lef thumb print oF "Stephan” -
Cowans™.

C. Oanc (1) photographic ncgative of the latent fingerprint oa the glass
mug identificd as the left thumb print of *§ tephan Cowans”.

LT Exhibit #13- - One (1) manila envelope containing oc (1) phétogriphic calargement

: with individual ridge details (minutia) marked in red and two (2)
photocopy reproductions of the left thumb print of “Steplian Cowans™.
(There are no notations oa these documents to indicate when, by whom or
for what reason they were made.)

_Exhibit#14;_Og e )_tapc sealed manila eavelo&contmnmr _

A. Onc (1) rpe sealed manila envelope conwining broken picces of gl:yss
o ) with a bubble wrap protector enclosed. It appears from the notations
T e 2 Sn this-itenr thet it has-been-reeently examined by and initialed by
' “BAR-on 1-21-04". (There is no record in the file to. indicate who _
*BAR? is or what was donc on 1-21-04 ) ' —

B. One (1) manila cavclope containing nurserous small pieces of glass.
(It appears that both Exhibit #14-A and Exhibit #14-B contain the
pieces of broken glass from the mug in Exhibit #1.

Exhibit #15:  Ogc (1) manila envelope containing one (1) Latent Print Soction Evidence
Receipt with carbon copy attached 1o one (1) white paper Boston P.D.
envelope containing six (6) Polaroid photographs, five (5) of which are
labeled “DEL™ and two (2) clear 1 % x 2 inch latent hinge lifters.
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Exhibit #16:  One (1) scaled white enveiope containing:

A. Onc (1) photographic enlargement of the latent fingerprint developed
on the glass inug which was subsequently identificd as the left thumb
‘printof “Stephan Cowans™. (This itera was assigned the court Exhibit
#87 and was referred 1o during the direct testimony of Officer
Denais LeBlanc on Page 3-219 of the tral transcript.)

B. Polaroid photograph of left thumb print of “Stcphan Cowans™ (This
item was labeled as court Exhibit #88 and was rcferred to
during the direct ttmimony of Officer Dennis LeBlanc on Page 3-219
e of the tnal uanscnpt.)

TTExHbRMT7: ‘Oﬁt‘(l)‘mp‘almmﬂa eavelope contining:

A. Three (3) Pola:'oid photographs of the lzm:nt ﬁngcrprint on the glass

- ——— mhee FrL fs e ey o e m— a—— an—

(Thcrc arc no gotations on these pbotog.raphs T indicate when, or by
whom they were madc, although they do not appear to be very old an
are consisteot with the type of Polaroid 6lm being used in the Latent
Print Unit in 2004.

B. One(l) Polaréid‘photogmph of the glass mug, Exhibit #1.

.C..Onc (1).photographic negative of thc photog,raph reprcsentcd n
Ex. 17-B.

D.-One (1}photograph1c negative of the left thumb pont of © Stcphan
- Cowa_ns ] T, .

Exhibit #18: Ore (1) manila cnvdopc conmmmg lhroc (3) 10-Prnt ﬁngcxpnnt cards
dated 9-8-89, 2-11-93 and 6-19-97, onc (1) set of major case prints dated
6-19-97, and five (5) photocopy reproductions of the know priats of
T 77777 “Siephin Cowaits”. (The sct of known fingerprints of “Stepban Cowags”
- - —datcd 9-8-89, was used for charting the ideatification as
represented on the court chart in Exhibit #2.)

Exhibit #19:  Onc (1) bear sealed clear plastic bag containing:

A  Onpe (1) piece of broken glass taped to 2 black-backed lift card repoited
to have been part of the glass mug in Exhibit #1.

B. Three (3) photographic enlargements of inked fingcrprints reported to
be the Jeft ring fingerprints of “Bonnie Lacy™. { Enlargements are of
the same fingerprints contained in Exhibit #7-A.)

-— . e e e e v e e ey e
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+—+--Det. Callahan when collecting the know climination fingerprints of

C. Onc (1) elimination fingerprint sheet bearing what is reported 1o be the
nght band fingerprints of “Bonnie Lacy”.

D. Three (3) photographic enlargements of the latent fingerprint on the
piccs of glass from the mug (Exhibit #19-A) with the ndge detail
- priated in the correct cojor. (black ridges)

E. One (1) Polaroid photograph of the lareat fingerprint on the piece of
&lass from the mug (Exhibit £19-A) as it was observed on the glass—
ndge detail is in reverse color. (white ridges)

., Exhibit #20:  One (1) manila epvelope containing three (3) beat sealed clear plastic °

slccves containing elimjnation fingerprint sheets (one each), labeled tobe:  —~~ = "

A. “"Boanje Lacy”, dated 6-1-97 (later correctly idcatified as being t;v: T
knowa priats of “Bryant McEwen™. This was 3 clerical crror made by

4 e ey e e

the victms, etc.)
B. “Bryant McEwen™, dated 6-1-97.

C. *“Bryant McEwca”, datcd 6-3-97.

Exhibit #21:  One ) heart sealed clear plassic bag containing onc (1} 10°Print ~

fingerprint card of “Boanic Lacy”. (These known inked fingerprints.arc
dated as having beza taken on 6-15-98 by Offiter Rosemnary McLaughlin
at the Bostoa Police Deparunent 1D. Unit. Although these known inked
fingerprints were never adminied as evidence daring the trial of “Stephan
Cowans”, they were referred 1o in both the testimony of Officer Deanis

- - LeBlanc and Officer Rosemary McLaughlin:-On Page 3-226 through -

Page 3-229 of the tial traascript, Officer LeBlanc testifies about this .
fingerprint card being the onc he used to identify the second fingerprint on
the glass mug. This coincides with Exhibit #8-B, his sccond identification
report dated 6-20-98. Special altestion shotid b8 Ziver tothe quote frotm
this report 35 poted in te-description of Exhibit #48B..Offidctce oo oo
McLaughlin also testifics that she took these inked fingerprints of “Boanie ' "
Lacy” and vsed them 1o verify the idcntification of the second print on the

glass mug. This testimony can be found on Pagc 4-24 of the trial

wanscript)

Exhibit #22:  Oge (1) manila eavelope containing onc (1) enlarged pbotograph of the

first latent fingerprint on the glass mug with odge detail in reversed
(black) color. (This photograph was reported © have been made by Lt
Ken Martin of the Massachusctis Statc Police as part of their evaluation of
the suspected erroneous identification )

4
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Exhibit #23:  Onc (1) manila envelope containigg Sgt. Robest Silva’s two page report
dated January 26, 2004. (This report contains details of whar duties he
performed in relation to the recent post-coaviction evaluation of the 1mitia]
latent fingerprint identfications.)

Exbibit #24:  One (1) manila envelope containing Sgt. Robert Foilb's three page report
- dated February 10, 2004. (This report contains details of what duties he
performed in relation to the receat post-conviciion cvaluation of the jnital
latent fingerpeint identification. :

Note: The following items were not recorded on the “Transfer of. Case File™

__memorandum dated February 11, 2004 from Lt Hutchinson 1o Superintesdent John
Gallagher but were found in the same box with those items which had been Nemizedon™
“that memorandum. -

Exhibit #25: Ounc (1) manila envelope containing the following sheets of paper found in
e filc box (these were placed in the manila envelope by RS & A, Inc. for

* evidenee scourity purposes):

A. One (1) approximately 4 x 5 inch picce of white paper beanng a
reduced copy of the “point 1o point” instructions found oa the back of
the identification chart contained in Exhibit #2.

B. Onve (I)approximately 4 x 5 inch piece of white paper bearinga

scparate; and different, set of “point to point” instructions than that

found in Exhibit #25-A. (Tbesc instuctions, although different,”

appeared 10 bave beca prepared as a second option of how to llustrate

the points of identification ov the chart in Exhibit #2.) '

_Exhibit #26;_Que (1) manila cavelope containing multiple copies of photographic

sheets; enlargewents, photocopies and other documeats. (A review of
- these documents did got reveal any new information and therefore they
were not itemized: as part of this official inventory.)

“Now:~"Upon seview of all of the evidence and the related documents made available to

- RS & A, Inc. it appears that many of the documents noted in the Exhibits fist were not ~

part of the original examination but became part of the Latent Print Ugit Case file on the
“Gallagher” case as a part of the post-coaviction review process. Smee very few of these
“pew” items were properly initialed or dated, they were included in the official inventory.
Every attempt wasmadc to differcatiate the “new” documents from the ones which were
pertineat to the evaluatiop of the original Latent print casc cxaminations conducted by
Officer LeBlanc and Officer McLaughlin.

It was also noticed that the AFIS tracings which were meationed by Officer LeBlanc
during his testimony at the trial of “Stephan Cowans™, were not found in the official case
filc. This testimony can be found on Page 3-241 and Page 3-242 of the tanscoipt. This is
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20 suggeston of wrongdoing, but just an obscrvation by the review team as pot of the

formal inventory process. From zn sdministrative viewpeint, the anal yteal

documentation was very haphazard and almost non-existent in some areas. Worksheets

detailing what, how or when diffcreat examinations were performed were not a part of

the file in this case, but as was discovered later, this was morc the norm than the

cxception in cases where Officer Leblanc was the primary cxamsaer in the case. More on
- that issue will be forthcoming in this report.

Pbase MI: . The comparison phasc of the review was began by reviewing the two
idetfications reported by Officer LeBlanc. The first identification reported was the
. identification of the first latent fingerprint on the glass mug as the lcft thumb print of
e .o - Stephan Cowans”. The original latent fingcrprint on the glass mug. the multiple
photographs of this latent fingerprint, both in its original ridge color (whitc) and its
“reversed ridge ‘color (b1ack) wére examined. - It was deicrinned thiat this latent fingerprint
was sutficieat for comparison and identification pusposes. This latent fingerprint was
then compared with the known inked left thumb print of “Stephan Cowans”, whose
- - .~.Xnown inked prints were found throughout the inventoried evidence.

In addition to this examination, the identification charts prepared by Officer Deanis
LeBlanc, illustrating the “identification™ were thoroughly examined. There we multiple
discrepancies between the ridge detail information-on the Jateot fingerprint from the plass
mug and the known inked left thumb_print of “Stcphan Cowans”. Although thercarea
few friction ridgc details on the latent fingerprint which have a similar appearance on the
inked fingerprint, there arc multiple “Poiats of Identification” marked on the enlargemest
of the known inked fingerprint that in no way coincide with thé same area of the latent
figerprint. For a trained latent print expett, these differences are not difficult 1o sec,
~ evenwhen the ridges-of-the latcnt fingerfprint are white and the ridges of the knowa inked
fingerprint are black; but for an untrained person these differcnces would not becasily--- -
— e e -_.__fccognized_ e e - - . et it e e m—e - o

Based on these cxaminations, it is the opinion of all fout of the RS & A, Inc. revicw team
members that this is indeed as erroneous ideatification. The latent fingerprint reported |

‘on by Officer Dennis LeBlanc on 6-24-97 was not made by the left thumb of “Stephan™"

As mentioved earlier in this report, this same latent fiagerprint was subsequently
identificd by Sergeant Robert Foilb as the left thumb print of “Bryant McEwen™, a
resideat oc visitor of the home from which the glass mug was recovered. This
identification starcment can be found in Exhibit #24, the report issved by Scrgeant Robert
Fotlb to Lt. Rachael Hutchinson on February 10, 2004. This idcntification was reviewed
by all four membcers of the RS & A, Inc. review team and was confirmed as a valid '
identification. According to the date that the known chimination fingerprints of “Bryant
McEwen™ were tuken by Detective Joha Callahan (6-1-97 & 6-3-97), these known
climination fingerprints should bave been available to Officer LeBlaac prior to the
“ideatitication” of “Stephan Cowans”, which according to his testimony (Pagce 3-230)

16 -

—Cowans™as represented on-the known-inked fingerprint cards bearing that pame. ..., . . .
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occurred on June 13, 1997. (Since no written record of when these known elimination
fingerprints were delivered 1o the Latent Print Unit could be found in the “Gallagher™
casc file, their preseace ig the unit prior to the “Stephar Cowans™ identification cannot be
confirmed.) If the known inked fingerprints of “Bryant McEwea” , Exhibit $20-B and
Exhibit #20-C, were available 10 Officer LeBlanc pnor to the identificaion of “Stephun
Cowans”, and they were compared and not ideatified, then this would be categorized as a
“missed identification”. A “missed identificution” is defined as an idcotification which
was pot made during the comparison process but should have been, based o the
cvidence available ar the time of the comparison.

The second lateat print idcatification on the glass mug, Exhibit #1, was reported on June

20, 1998, by Officer LeBlanc. This Latcnt Print Unit Report, Exhibit #10-A, was issucd .
almost a foll yéar fiom the date of the first fepoire, dated Jone 24, 1997 Tn s report; == e s e
Officer LeBlanc made the following statcmeat “Irespectfully report that on June 17, :
1998, as a'result of receiving a new set of inked impressions from Bonnie Lacy, [ was
able to identified the second print found on the glass mug as beloaging to ber number
nine (9) finger. This was verified by Latent Print Examiner Rosemary McLaughlin.”

. (The improper grammar was part of the actial report) Based on the tetimony of Officer:
. LeBlanc and Officer McLaughlin, the $et of fingerprints which are referred to in this
satespent were those taken by Officer McLaughlin personally at the 1.D. Unit of the

Boston Police Department ou June 15, 1998. These have been marked as Exhibit #21 in

the inveontory list. .

- s m————

This second lateat fingerprint was examined by all four members of the RS & A, Inc.
teview tcam. The original latent fingerprnt oa the broken picce of glass mvug and
numerous photographs of this latcot-fingerprint were cxamined and it was determined
that this second latent fingerprint was sufficient for comparison and identification
purposes. ‘This Jatent fingerprint was thea compared with the known inked fingerprints of
."Bonnic Lacy” which were contained in Exhibit # 7-A. taken on 6-3-57 by Detective 3
John Callahian aod Exhibit #21, the inked fingerprints taken by OfficerRosemary . "7 7~
Mchughlin on June 15, 1998. This identification was confirmed as a valid identificaion
by ail four members of the review team. - - '

During this examinatio-zad revicw~ processy the-phetographic-enlargements used during

the mial by Officer LeBlanc to illustrats this identification of the second Jatent fingerprint |
as belonging 1o the vicum, “Bonnie Lacy” were carcfully examined. During this process

wo (2) significant observations were rgade.

ey wme, e

I. The furst thing that was noticed is that the color of the ridge details of this lateat
Iingerpeint had been reversed prior to the enlargervents being made for the court charts.
In carlier portions of this report it was noted that the clear glass mug was processed with
the cyapoacrylate ester foming process, which develops tbe lateat Bngerprint ridge derail
in a white color. This is a perfectly accepteble method of processing this typc of
evidential item. Since the ridge details of 2 known inked fingerprint are black in color, it
is recommended to reverse the color of the lateat fingerprint ridge detajls. '
photographically so that when the enlargements are made and mounted side by side, the

Yod
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fingerprint ndge demils are of the same color and they are much easier for the jury
members o sce and understand. This set of count charts were made 1n that recommendec
nanncr.

Converscly, the sct of charts made 1o illustrate the “Stepban Cowans™ idestification were
not madc in this same manner, even though this process would have it much easier for the
jury members 1o sce and understand the *“Point by Point” testimony of Officer LeBlanc.

The understanding of the proper court chasting methodology exhibited by Officer
LeBlanc in the example of the “Bonnie Lacy” fingerpiint idestification caused the revicw
team to wonder why this same proper methodology was not utilized in the obvxonslv

“™

——momee= —- -2~ -~ The second observation Is of equal importance. Onc of the elements of the chart

review process is 10 locate within the items of evidence, the exact samc known inked .
Bingerprint that was used to make the enlargement for the court identification chart. This

weem e m < e —W25.cORducted and we discovered that the known inked left ring fingerprint of “Boanic

Lacy™ which was specifically selected by Officer Leblanc to be enlarged for the court
identfication chart did not come from the set of known inked fingerprints taken by
Officer Rosemary McLaughlin on Juse 15, 1998, (Exhibit #21) as would have been
.expected, but instead came from the sct of inked elimination fingerprints taken by
Detective John Callzhan on June 3, 1997 (Exhibit #7-A). '
Thls is'io coufhc‘t thh the statcment in Exhibit #8-B, Officer LeBlanc’s report of the
identification of this latent fingerpdnt being *as 2 resultof receiving a rew set of inked
impression from Bongie Lacy™.

It appears to also be in geoeral coaflict with the trial testimony of Officer Leblanc when

~be describes the-process-of dentifying this sccoud-Jatcat fingerprint as being the - left ring

fingerprint-of “Bonnicacy® while-infersing-that he-used the-set of inked-fingerprints-- -

" taken by Officer McLaughlin to make the identification 2nd to prepare the enfarged latent
" fingerprint dentification court chart. This part of Officer LeBlanc’s sworn testimony can

be found on Pages 3-226 through.3-229. Bascd on our cxamination, this testimony

appears to be In conflict with the evidence that was acméﬂ"y prcscmcd

There is no rccord in the case file of why, when orby whom an addmona] set of mkcd

climnipatioa fingerprints of “Bonnie Lacy” was requested.

Regarding these issucs, the RS & A, Inc. review team is in unanimous agreement on four

. (4) additional points. They are as follows:

A. The additional sct of inked climination fingerprints of “Bonnie Lacy” were never
. needed to idestfy the sccond latent fingerprnt on the glass mug.

B. The inked left ring fingerprint appearing on 1be flngerpriot card taken by Officer
McLaughlin in 1998, was not as legible as the inkcd left ring fingerprint taken by

18
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Detectve Jobn Callahan in 1997 und would oot have been as good for making
court enlargemeats.

C. If the known inked fingerprints of “Bonnie Lacy™ . Exhibit #7-A. were available
10 Officer Dennis LeBlanc at the time of the initial examinations and were
compared by him, and not identified, prioc to his first report issued on Junc 24,
1997, then this would be categorized as a “missed identification”, as
previously defiped.

D. Since there is no record of why, when or by whom'an additional set of elimination
fingerprints were requesicd, this needs to be further investigated to determine if
the request came from Officer LeBlanc und trough what channels the request

| T T was Tnadel (Why Wi OFfCE Rosciiary Melighlia te She who Took the piiits
S of “Bonnie Lacy”-and 20t-Officcr LcBlanc?)—— =

e R T S e e v e

PhaseIlI: . We requested to see any and all charts which could be attributed to Office
~ Dennis LeBlanc to determine, if possible, his usual and customary method of preparing
~ 7 T identification charts ToF court testimonics; particularly in'tasés 1nvolving Jatent prints ™™
devcloped with the cyanoacrylate esier filming process. o .

Lz Rachael Hutchinson of the Idcntification Unit gathered the identifcation charts which
were found in the desk arca of Officer LeBlanc for inspection by the review team but
nonc of these had markings which indicated by whom they were made and vader what
clrcumnistances. They also did noi appear 16 have béea utilized in'a rial proceeding siice .~ . = .
they did not have any court exhibit markings on them, .
It is highly recommended that a thorough technical review of any latent print
- idcutification chants which can be attibuted to Officer Dennis LeBlaoc, particularly from

the period of 1995 through 1999, which may be in the possession of the court system or

- . Diswict Anomey’s Office, be, examined 10 determine the following:. _ ... _

A. In cases where the latent print was developed with the cyanoacrylate estér fuming
process did Officer LéBlanc nomnally reverse the color of the fidge details before
tbe calargements were produced for the identification chasts, ——m s = o-o

- B. Did Officer Leblanc normaily place written “Point by Point” iﬁstrucﬁons_on the
back of identification charts, and if it was an occasional occurrence, was there a
correlation between their preseuce and the images oa the froat of the charts, such
as reversed color, distormion, faint ridge detatls etc.. -

Based on the Jack of information at ovr disposal, Phase T1J of our jnquiry remains
incomplete at this time. '

PhaseIV:  The Administrative and Technical review of cases which had been

assigned 1o Officer Dennis LeBlanc from the period between 1995 and 1999 required a
Joint effort of all four (4) of the RS & A, Inc. members, workin g in two (2) teams, of two
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(2) members each. Boxes reported 10 contain aJl the cases winch would have been
worked by Officer Dennis LeBlanc for that five year ime period were delivered to the .
conference room for examination. A total of one thousand, two hundred and fifty-six
(1256) individual cases were examined during this phase. Of those cases, a total of sixty
seven (67) cases resulted in identfications which appeared to involve a suspect. Of the
sixty-seven (67) “Suspect Identified” cases dunng this tme period, fifty-four (54), or
80%, of these identificarions were as a direct result of AF]S searches launchbed and
reviewed by Officer LcBlanc. :

The Administrative review of the cascs from this five year ime period revealed an almu..
total disregard for quality documcntation of evidence reccived, work performed,’
comparisons copducted and verfications conducted. In those cascs resulting in an .
identiBcation, there was at most times a copy of the report to the investigator in theecase™

.- filc, but in cases not resulting in an identification,.a report-was.very scldom found. ...

. Interestingly enough, in some limited instances the docuentation was indecd ‘bcm:r and

-was almost-always associated with cascs in which be was baving bis ideatifications
__venified by an Officer Kea Shaw, who we were advised was another Officer assigned to

the Lateat Print Unit during that ume period.” Tn tie majority of his cases, in which his -
identifications were reviewed by Officer Rosemary McLaughlin, thexe was an obvious
difference in how well he documented his work and prepared bis case file. Very lidde

- effort was made in these cases to properly documeaot the work be performed. . -

We also had the opponﬁniry {0 review .sixty-scvc.n (67) cascs from the four year period of

"" 2000 through 2003.in which Officer LeBlanc bad identified suspects. Becausc of time

cousiraints we werc oot able 10 review any of his non-identification cases from 2000
through 2003. Of these sixty-seven (67) “Suspect Identificd™ cascs, thirty-six (36), or
53% were made as a direct tesult of AF]S scarches launched and reviewed by Officer
LcBlanc. There appeared 10 be some noticeable improvement in his administrative casc

—-ee = w—.documentation on “Suspmt Identiffed” cases as time progressed.

T L T———— s N ey ey .

T The Tochmical teview of the cases was Lnmited to the examination of the ideatibeations

reported by Officer Deanis LeBlanc during the period betweea 1995 and 2003, which
were provided to the RS & A, Inc. tcam by the Boston Police Departmerit Based on our

‘e - retords we cxamined-z tota-of one-hundred-and thirty-four (134) cascs involving -
.. Suspect Identificatons”. Tn those cases we did not find any identifications wtuch were

N0 et

erroncous. We did locate one- (1) identification on a case m 1996 in which the wmng
finger, of the correct person, was listed in the report, but based upon our examipation, we
belicve that to bave been the result of a clerical error, when preparing the report.

During this technical review process we each had numerous opportunitics to sec the level

.of technical ability of Offices Deanis LeBlanc displayed 1s his casework. We focused

our atiention prirnarily on his abilities in the five ycar span surrounding the ycar thc
“Gallagher” case was cxamined, which was 1997.

Based upon this review, it is the unanimous opinion of the RS & A, Inc. review team that -
Officer Dennis LeBlanc posscsscd the technical ability to have examined the cvidence in
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the “Gallagher” case properly, if he had applicd his coasidcrable skills as demonsiated in
the guroerous other cases we examined. He consistently identificd latent fingerprints
which were as difficult as the “Stephan Cowans™ latcart fingeeprint.

The only significant difference we could determine is that in the majority of these other
“difficult Jatent fingerprint” cascs he had acquired his suspect from his search of the
Jatent fingerprint through the state AFIS systcm and in the “Gallagher” case he had beea
provided the name of the suspect by the Detective Divisiop. This could indicate a
developed dependence on AFIS results as part of his ideptification process. As noted
above, from 1995 to 1999, the perceatage of his total “Suspect Identification” cases
n:sulnng from AFIS was 80%, while the percentage of his total “Suspect Identifications™
using AFIS during the next four years was 53%, which is significantly Jower. We fully
T T realize thiat ihiere niay be arother explanation for this significant percentage change, other
Ran-aesses ence-upon-AFIS as his cxpericnce level grew, but we agreed that
these statistics were sx,,mﬁc:mt cnouah to notc as an official part of this report.

P U — PR

Phase” "The Admjnistrative TeView of 4 samipling of cases examined by Officer-
Ros::marv McLaughhn between 1995 and 1999 was copducted to determiine if there was
a pantern of Ppoor documentation which bad become the accepted “norm”™ within the

- Latent Print Unit during this time period.

This review revealed that Officer Rosemary McLavghlin was very skilled in casework
~ @ochimentatioh and consisiently completed het case files properly, including a copy of
ﬁmshed reports on almost every case, regardless of results. Her case docurnentation also

. appeared to consistently improve as the years progressed.

Based upon the Administrative reyiew of the case files of both Officer LeBlanc and

. .. ...Officer McLaughlin, it appears. that, during this period, the Jevel of documcentation
comp_lctcd_ by. cach examiner was. their decision to make vndwout any. structumd e
supervisory review. This environmeat could not insurc that af least 2 minimum amount T
of information was placed in each casc file.

B Phase ¥I— The review pfbcc'ss'ofth'c wanscripts of Officer Dennis LeBlanc and -
.. mmzm ZOHICCE RoOsemary Mcl aughlin was exteasive. They were fitst reviewed to detetmine
cousistency between the testimoaies and the actual evidence in the case. Some of these
discrepancies have already beea pointed out in other sections of this report.

Thc following pages indicatc additional "Tcsnmoay of Intercst” topics which we
consider pertinent o our overall evaluation of this case:

A Page 3-198 through Page 3-201: In these pages Officer LeBlanc testifies as to
the geperal process used to compare latent fingerprints with known inked
fingerprints. He describes the charactenistics that arc used to compare
fingerprints and how the individual ridge details must relate to each other in
the correct position for the ideptification to be made. He also points out ou
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Page 3-201 that if the points of refercnce arc not present then “Tt would not be
a match”. This clearly shows that be fully understood what the result should
be whea individual details do not correedy correspond on both the latent pont
and the known inked print

Page 3-209: Oug this page Officer LeBlanc testifies that “T compadred all ten
fingers to this latent print”. Of coursc, we know that he identified this latent
print to the Jeft thumb print of “Stephian Cowans™ and according to his
wesumony on Page 3-214, be compared it with the fingers of the right hand

then identified it as the number 6 finger, which means that Be pever compared |

it with the remaining four (4) fingers of the left band. Incopsistent stztement.

 Page 3-220 through Page 3-224: Officer LeBlanc describes the “Point by

March 8, 2004

the left thumb print of “Stephan Cowans” using the court charts he prepared
for thar purpose. He follows his writtenr directions which he has taped on the

C e o mmm mme eeme wa

Pabe 3—2-6 duouah Pagc 3.229: Officer LeBlanc resur ies about Ofﬁce.r
McLaughlin takmg a set of known inked climination fingerprints of “Bomnie
L acy” and using them in the comparisou of the second Jatent fingesrprint on
the mug. He also testifics about making the second ideatification and infers

. that it was made using that particular card even though his charts of this
- identification include an enlargernent of the known kedJeft ring fmgzqannt

of “Bonnie Lacy” taken by Detective Callahan back } n 1997. Testimony
inconsistent with the evideoce.

Page 3-246: Under re-direct examination, Officer LeBlanc swas asked by the
prosecutor if the AFIS priot of Mr. Cowan which be had been asked to -

was therc cnough there 1o compare 5t?7” Officer LeBlanc answered, “Compare
it with my lateot print that I had, no”. When reviewing the case file we came
across 2 cne page AFIS printout dated 6/23/98, which was the day before the
testimony of Officer LeBlanc.” Tt bas tie Operator I Nuinber of DPSTZ98 ™
which we were informed belonged-to OfficerLeBlane. ~This-appcars-ia-the .
evidetce invéntory list as Exhibit #8-E. It appears that this might be the
printout that the prosccutor asked Officer LeBlanc to prepare and bring with
him to court. We can not kaow for sure because it was not admitted into
evidence, although it is meatoned zgain during cross examination on

Page 3-251 whea Officer LeBlaac states, “"Thesc prints were put in jn 19907,
The printout, Exhibit #8-E indicates that that particular AFIS fingerpant was’
entered in to the state AFIS system on 6-26-90. If it was, thea the response of
Officer LeBlanc regarding the quality of the fingerprint image would be very
questionable, since the nidge detail of the fingerprint on Exhibit #8-E is very
clear indeed, with no smudging or distortion of any Kind
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F. Page 3-246: After Officer LeBlanc responced regarding the quality of the 7
AFIS pnnt of “Stephan Cowan”™. the prosecutor continued by asking “Why
was that?” Officer LeBlanc's response seemed very disjointed and non-
respoosive. He answered, “Because the part of my Jatent prints that T had was
1 good - the ndges were fine. You could see the ridges. I could see the core.
I'had definitely three points in my latent print and definitely with my inked
impression that I could martch up no problem.™ This question was not one that
was presented 10 him under cross examination but one that should have been
very easy to answer if the AFIS print had indeed been of poor quality. It
appears that his answer may bave beca revealing much more thaa the question
called for and could be considered as aa indication of his approach to the
lateot print identification in this case. “I had definitely three poists in my
latent print and definitely with my inked impression thiat I could match up no-

i ‘ problem™ had absolutely nothing to do with the question. It certainly would

pot be a statemcat that a Jatent print examincr would be expected 1o make
under.nommal circomstances.

Am——— c——

~ G. 7 "Page 3-251: Under cross examination, Officer L eBlane réplies to'severd =~
questions from the defense counsel about Mr. Cowans fingerpunts being in
the state AFIS sysicm whea the latent fingerprints from the glass mug were
searched on May 317, 1997. Officer LeBlanc statcs, “Thc print is distorted™.
JE he 1s once again referning 10 the knowa inked left thumb print of “Stephan
Cowans” whose fingerprint appears on Ex.#8-E, he is now going even further
“with bis opinion as 1o the quality of the knowsn iaked Iéft thumb print on the
printout. As was reationed earlier, this print is certainly not distorted but
actually is very clear indeed and is in dircet conflicg with his testimony.

H Page 4-24: Officer Rosemary McLaughlin states, “As far as confirming the
v ... print, I cxamincd the mug and examined the latent fingerprint on the mug and
compared it to the inked tmpression.” She doés a0t meation examining any
photographs of the Jatent Sngerpunt, although this scems 10 be the mcthod of
choice s the unit dunng that tme period ca other cases. It is quite difficult to

' __ d9 adirect comparison of the whitc ridge latent fingerprint on a curved glass

- e sarfaeewﬁbthc-b&:ekﬂdgcsro@aknown-mkcd fingerprint without the benefit

- ——of photographs. If this s comparison was doge without it photopraphs thea it
rmght be easier to understand bow te erroneous verification occurred. There
is no written documentation in the case file, other than the reports prepared by
Officer LeBlanc, that indicate that Officer McLaughlin Jooked at the Iatent
prints in question. She tesufied that she did and there is nothing in the file to
contradict that testimony. .

me v m— oy — oy v s -
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Phasc VII: A rcvicw of the documeats and cvidenee contained in the inventory list in
.Pbase I, along with 3 review of the tal transcoipt in Phase VI, egabled the RS & A, Inc.
review team lo develop a ime Jine of “Gallagher” case related evenrs pertaining to the
activities and involvements of the members of the Boston Police Department Latent Priat
Unit.. Although this is not (0 be considercd an exhaustive list, it does include the major -
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events along with any discrepancies which have appesred during the review process. Taat
ume Jine 3s as follows:

Date - Event {Dates in bold indicate a contradiction)

May 30, 1997 Officer Rosemary McLaughlin respoads to crime scenc at 7

. " School Soest. Officer involved shooting. (Transcript --

McLaughlin)

May 31, 1997 Officer Dennis LeBlanc relieves Officer McLaughlin at secondary
¢rime sceae At #29 School Sueet, Accompanied by Sergeant

e oo .. RObext Foilb. (Transcript - LeBlanc)
T T T May31 1997 = The glassimug was procesyed for iateat: pdats by Officer LeBlanc
- ' and Scrgeant Foilb. (Transcript — LeBlanc)
s e My LI The two (2) identifiable laten fingerprints which were developed

on the clear glass mug were photographed and searched through
the statc AFIS. (Transcript —LeBlanc)

Junc 2, 1997 - . Officer Sharpn Wong issues a report on the negative resuits in |
processing “Officer Gallagher’s” fircarm. (Casc tcport in file)

June 10,1997 A Detective provides the ID Unit with the name of “Stephan

. Cowans™ s a possible suspect. (Verbally provided 1o review team

from Supernntendent John Gallagher after we made the inquiry)

June 12,1997 The pame of “Siephan Cowans” was provided to the ID Unit

~ -~ (Traoscrpt—McLaughlin) .- . e e el ———
T rans 13,1097 The £rse Jotint Fusgirrint ou oo glass o was WonGhal o o T
left thumb print of “Stephan Cowans” by Officer Dennis LeBlanc,
(Toscaipt —LcBlanc) '
June 15,.1997.. . Officer LeBlanc’s ideatification of the Iéft thumb print of “Stephap.

Cowans™ verified by Officer Rosemary McLaughlin. (T) ranscript —
Leblanc / McLaughlin)

Junc 24; 1997 Officer Deanis LeBlanc issues a Latent Print Usit rcport oa the
“Stephan Cowans” ideatification. (Case report in file)

June 10, 1998 Officer Dennis LeBlanc is issued 2 subpocna to :xppear on 6-22-93

i Superior Court-for the County of Suffolk in the casc of Statc of
Massachuseits VS “Stephan Cowans” (Subpoeaa in case file)
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June 13, 1998 Officer Rosemary McLaughlin takes an adcidonal set of inked
fingerprots of “Bonme Lacy”. (Extubit #21)

Juge 17, 1998 Officer Deanis LeBlanc ideaufies the second latent fingerpriant on
the glass mug as the left ring fAngerprint of “Boanie Lacy™ (Repont
in case file)

June 20, 1998 Officer Dennis Leblanc issues a Latent Print Unit report on the

“Bouanie Lacy” identficaton. (Case report in file)

June 23, 1998 Orficer Deonis LeBlanc retricves an AFIS printour of the left
thumb prmt of "Stephan Cowans™ upou Iequest of prosecutor.
(Transcript — LcBl:mc)

Tugc 24, 1998 Officer Dennis LeBlanc testifies as to the identification of
: *Stcphan Cowans” and “Bonnic Lacy” fingerprints and the

identification charts are admitied along with photos and the glass

mug. (Transcnpt - Lequnc)

January 26, 2004: Sergeant Robert Silva issues a report regarding his involvement in
the post-conviction examination of the “Gallagher” case up to that
date. (Exhibit #23)

February 10,2004  Sergeant Robert Foilb correctly identifies the first latent fingerprint
on the glass mug as the left thumb print of “Bryant McEwen™ and
issues a report regarding this idemtificadon.

Phase VIII: W belicve that the Roa Smith & Associates. Inc. review team of latent
fingerprint.expert and managers have been successtul in the documentation of what our
research revealed. This reportis 3 result of that documentation.

Phase IX: Synopsis of Conclusions Reached. -

As i any extzusive and detatled fnvestigation;-the-désireis-that-all teehnical questions——— -

can, and will be answered. That was our wish as well, as weTeviewed every latent print,

in excess of five thousand documents, and hundreds upon hundreds of evidence items.
Many questions were answered but some were not. Bascd upon our extensive research.
and very carcful consideration of the infonmation we cxamined, we are able to makc the
following statemeats:

L. The ideatification of ““Sicpban Cowans” by Officer Deonmis LeBlanc was
[Hipgujei<el il

2. The verification of this “Stcphan Cowans™ identificaion by Officer Roscinary

Mclaushlin was crroncous. The review of this casc did not reveal any cvidence
y
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4.

ihat she knew of, or partcipated in other actions, refated 10 concealment of this
erroncous identificadon. :

K the known inked fingerprints of “Bonnie Lacy™ which were taken by Detective
John Callahan, dated 6-3-97, werc available to Officer Dennis LeBlanc ot the time
of the initial examinations and wesc compared by him prior to his first report
1ssued on June 24, 1997, and not identificd, thea this would be categorized as a
“missed identification” by Officer LeBlanc.

If the known inked fingerpriats of “Bryant McEwen”, which were taken on
6-1-97 and 6-3-97, were available o Officer Dennis LeBlanc at the time of the
initial examinations and were compared by him prior 1o the identificaton of
“Stephan Cowans”, and not idcntified, then this would be categorized 'ss a

—“missed jdevtification”. (Had this comparison been conducted propeily, the entire

3

6.

“crroneous identfication would have been averted.)

Officer Dennis LeBlane possessed the technical ability to bave examined the
‘evidence in the ‘Gaﬂdghcr’ case properly, if he bad applied his considerabjé
skills as demonstrated in numerous other cases we examined. Indeed, he

identified several latent fingerprints, prior o and after 1997, which would be
considered more difficolt than the latent fingerprints in the “Gallagher” case.

Officer Deanis LeBlanc fully understood the process of making a latent

Fingerprint identification and what the analytical results should be whea ridge
details do not appear in the same relative posmon on both thc Ialent fingerprint -
and the known inked fingerprint.

Officer Dennis LeBlanc fully understood bow to prepare court latent fingesprint
Identification charts in 3 manger that would fpake them more €asily Sccnand

understood by the members of the jury, as evidenced by bis chart of the "Bonmc '

Lacy” fingesprint identification. However, he chose for Soe redson, 1o ot
reverse th:: color of the ﬁngcrpnnt ndg: details of the “Stephan Cowans™

The TCVIEW ¢ of the evidence in thxs case docs not provm'c the dcﬁmuvt: answer as
to Why this erToneous »dentification was madé by Officce Dennis LeBlanc and -
verified by Officer Rosemary McLaughlin.

"Based upon the cxtensive review of the “Gallagher™ case, it is the unanimous
opinion of the Ron Smith & Associatcs, Inc: review.team that at some poiat, after
the estoneous identification was madc, but prior to his testirmony n the “Stépban
Cowans” trial, Officer Dennis LeBlanc discovered his mistake and concealed 3t all

the way through the trial. This opinion is derived from the review of numcrous
documents, the charted enlasgements presented in this case, the apparcnt attempt
to conceal errors regarding the “Bonnie Lacy” missed identification in- 1997, the
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numerQus Incoasistencies in the wial tesiimony of Officer Dennis LeBlanc
himself, and the wealth of data collected during this =atirc review process.

Thus concludes the official report on the review of this case by "Ron Smith & Associates..

Incorporated. Jf you wish for us to exarnine additional matenal related to case. please
feel free to contact us at your convenience. [f estimony reg.ndmg our findings is
required, we would require that we be allowed to opce again gain access to the evidence
in this case so that all the neccssary photographic images could be captured. Because of
the technical nature of our testimony regarding the findings in this case, it would be
necessary for us to have an additiona] thirty days to prepare the coust exhibits.

- .. . ...Asyouhave requested,.an iavoics for the services rendered will be forwarded to your

office uader separate cover.

Rcspéctfully submitted,

Ron Smxth Pres:dcnt
Certified Lateat Print Examioer




